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(CRB at 55.) 

By contrast, Tessera's interpretation creates chaos. Under Tessera's construction, 

secondary purchasers are not certain that the products they buy are free from third party claims. 

If a company decides to purchase products from a dealer, they can (1) ask the company prove 

they have a license, and/or (2) ask Tessera to confirm the company is a licensee in good standing. 

But those measures get the third party purchaser nowhere because, according to T essera, the 

licensee in good standing, amazingly, might not be selling "licensed products." This is because 

the licensee's authority is conditioned on a future event, namely the quarterly payment of 

royalties. Thus, until the royalty is paid, no entity, including Tessera, can be sure the packages 

are "licensed." Indeed, unless the third party purchaser is able to account for each chip or 

package the Tessera licensee has sold, it cannot be safe from a future action. 

The argument is further complicated because most, if not all, of the TCC license 

agreements are confidential, so the very third party that Tessera claims is obligated to enforce the 

contract cannot gain access to the contract. Under Tessera's construction, the only possible way 

that the third party could safeguard their business from unmet future conditions is to purchase a 

license themselves and risk paying double royalties one royalty price is embedded in the 

purchase price marketed by the licensee and the other price is paid from the third party purchaser 

directly to Tessera. While Tessera has disavowed any desire to collect double royalties, they 

have presented no evidence that preventative or corrective steps are or will be affirmatively taken 

to avoid overpayment. The sole example of Tessera taking corrective action regarding 

overpayment occurred when a customer determined that Tessera was collecting an undeserved 
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windfall and confronted the company. (Griffin 9/24/08 Tr. 1014:3-20.) Tessera's willingness to 

refund its customers in that situation is hardly assurance that future overpayment will be avoided. 

In support of this conclusion, the ALl notes that Tessera's notions of "flexible licensing" 

were before the Supreme Court in Quanta and not adopted. See 2007 WL 4340883 (Tessera's 

Amicus Br. in Supp. of LGE.). In Tessera's amicus brief filed in support of LGE, Tessera 

argued that "today's global economy depends on flexible licensing strategies that in many cases 

require separate licenses for components, systems, and methods at different levels of 

manufacturing, distribution, and retail chain in order to capture all of the value of the patented 

inventions." Id. at *2. The Quanta Court squarely rejected this argument by relying on Univis 

Lens, Co. v. United States, 316 U.S. at 244, 254 (1942). Univis invalidated a licensing scheme 

that involved royalty payments from multiple licensees within the same supply chain. Id. at 254. 

A second amicus brief from Quanta is instructive: Qualcomm, Inc. submitted a brief 

arguing that retro-actively terminating an already-granted license should be permissible if the 

licensee breaks a condition subsequent. 2007 WL 43400879 at *8-9. In the case of Qualcomm, 

the condition subsequent was that licensees promised not to sell Licensed Products to non­

"Authorized Purchasers." Id. The Supreme Court's decision in Quanta rejected LGE's argument 

and thus rejected Qualcomm's similar argument. The Court considered and rejected licensing 

schemes permitting the after-sale control of patented items based on retro-active revocation of an 

otherwise valid license grant. 

For the reasons stated above, Tessera's assertion that licensed entities sold Respondents 

unlicensed product is rejected. The ALl finds that all chips Respondents purchased from 

licensed entities were authorized to be sold by Tessera and Tessera's rights in those chips 

became subject to exhaustion. 
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Nevertheless, DRAM purchased from unlicensed entities is not exhausted where Tessera 

did not otherwise authorize the entities to sell. Respondents' packages from unlicensed suppliers 

needed to be "sorted" away from U.S. market to avoid or otherwise be subject to an exclusion 

order. Respondents that purchased DRAM from unlicensed entities have failed to demonstrate 

that unauthorized chips were diverted, and thus no exhaustion defense has been proven by those 

Respondents. All Respondents, except Elpida, concede that at least a small portion of their 

worldwide DRAM purchases are made from unlicensed suppliers. 18 

Respondents "market saturation" evidence-namely demonstrating that they purchased 

enough licensed DRAM to potentially cover 100% of their U.S. market--does not demonstrate 

that they actually supplied the U.S. market with product purchased from licensed entities. Elpida 

is the only respondent that asserts that all of its DRAM was purchased through licensed suppliers. 
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VIII. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Commission has personal jurisdiction over the parties, and subject-matter 

jurisdiction over the accused products. 

2. The importation or sale requirement of section 337 is satisfied. 

3. The accused products do not literally infringe the asserted claims of the '106 Patent, 

the '977 Patent and the '627 Patent 

4. The accused products not infringe the asserted claims of the '106 Patent under the 

doctrine of equivalents. 

5. The asserted claims of the' 106 Patent, the '977 Patent and the '627 Patent are not 

invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 for anticipation. 

6. The asserted claims of the '106 Patent, the '977 Patent and the '627 Patent are not 

invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for obviousness. 

7. The asserted claims of the '106 Patent, the '977 Patent and the '627 Patent satisfY the 

definiteness requirement of 35 U.S.c. § 112'; 2. 

8. A domestic industry for all of the asserted patents exists, as required by section 337. 

9. Respondents have failed to prove the affirmative defense of licensing. 

10. Respondents, with the exception of Elpida, have failed to prove the affirmative 

defense of patent exhaustion for all of their accused products. 

11. Respondent Elpida has proven that its accused products were purchased from Tessera 

licensed entities are subject to patent exhaustion and do not infringe. 

12. It has not been established that a violation of section 337 for the '977 Patent, the '627 

Patent and the' 1 06 Patent has occurred. 
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IX. INITIAL DETERMINATION AND ORDER 

Based on the foregoing, it is the INITIAL DETERMINATION ("ID") of this ALJ that no 

violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has occurred in the importation 

into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after 

importation of certain semiconductor chips with minimized chip package size and products 

containing same by reason of infringement of one or more of claims 17 and 18 of United States 

Patent No.5,679,977; claims 1-4, 9-12, and 15-16 of United States Patent No. 6,133,627; and 

claims 1-4,9, 10 and 33-35 of United States Patent No. 5,663,106. The ALJ further determines 

that a domestic industry exists that practices United States Patent Nos. 5,679,977, 6,133,627 and 

5,663,106. 

Further, this Initial Determination, together with the record of the hearing III this 

investigation consisting of: 

(1) the transcript of the hearing, with appropriate corrections as may hereafter be 
ordered, and 

(2) the exhibits received into evidence in this investigation, as listed in the attached 
exhibit lists in Appendix A, 

are CERTIFIED to the Commission. In accordance with 19 C.F.R. § 210.39(c), all material 

found to be confidential by the undersigned under 19 C.F.R. § 210.5 is to be given in camera 

treatment. 

The Secretary shall serve a public version of this ID upon all parties of record and the 

confidential version upon counsel who are signatories to the Protective Order (Order No. 1.) 

issued in this investigation, and upon the Commission investigative attorney. 
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X. RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND 

I. Remedy and Bonding 

The Commission's Rules provide that subsequent to an initial determination on the 

question of violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, the 

administrative law judge shall issue a recommended determination containing findings of fact 

and recommendations concerning: (1) the appropriate remedy in the event that the Commission 

finds a violation of section 337, and (2) the amount of bond to be posted by respondents during 

Presidential review of Commission action under section 337G). See 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(a)(I)(ii). 

A. General Exclusion Order 

Under Section 337(d), the Commission may issue either a limited or a general exclusion 

order. A limited exclusion order instructs the U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP") to 

exclude from entry all articles that are covered by the patent at issue and that originate from a 

named respondent in the investigation. A general exclusion order instructs the CBP to exclude 

from entry all articles that are covered by the patent at issue, without regard to source. 

A general exclusion order may issue in cases where (a) a general exclusion from entry of 

articles is necessary to prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named 

respondents; or (b) there is a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337 and it is difficult to 

identify the source of infringing products. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2). The statute essentially 

codifies Commission practice under Certain Airless Paint Spray Pumps and Components 

Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-90, Commission Opinion at 18-19, USITC Pub. 119 (Nov. 1981) 

("Spray Pumps"). See Certain Neodymium-Iran-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys, and Articles 

Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-372 ("Magnets"), Commission Opinion on Remedy, the 
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Public Interest and Bonding at 5 (USITC Pub. 2964 (1996)) (statutory standards "do not differ 

significantly" from the standards set forth in Spray Pumps). 

In Magnets, the Commission confirmed that there are two requirements for a general 

exclusion order: a "widespread pattern of unauthorized use;" and "certain business conditions 

from which one might reasonably infer that foreign manufacturers other than the respondents to 

the investigation may attempt to enter the u.s. market with infringing articles." The 

Commission went on to state the following factors as relevant to determining whether there is a 

"widespread pattern of unauthorized use": 

(1) a Commission determination of unauthorized importation of the infringing 
article into the United States by numerous foreign manufacturers; or 

(2) the pendency of foreign infringement suits based on foreign patents 
corresponding to the u.s. patent; [or] 

(3) other evidence which demonstrates a history of unauthorized foreign use 
of the patented invention. 

Magnets, Commission Opinion on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding at 6 (citing Spray 

Pumps). 

In addition, the Commission listed the following factors as relevant to showing whether 

"certain business conditions" the second Spray Pumps factor exist: 

(1) the existence of an established demand for the article in the u.s. market 
and conditions of the world market; 

(2) the availability to foreign manufacturers of u.s. marketing and 
distribution networks; 

(3) the cost for foreign entrepreneurs to build a facility that can produce the 
patented articles; 

(4) the number of foreign manufacturers whose facilities could be converted 
to manufacture the patented article; and 
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(5) the foreign manufacturers' cost to convert a facility to produce the 
patented articles. 

Id. 

1. Widespread Pattern of Unauthorized Use 

Tessera argues that there is a widespread pattern of unauthorized sale and importation of 

the "Accused Packaged ChipS.,,19 (CIB at 118.) Tessera argues that a vast majority of the 

DRAM chips imported into the u.s. use the accused technology and that hundreds of millions of 

unlicensed Accused Packaged Chips, totaling nearly $1 billion, were used or incorporated into 

electronic devices that were imported into the United States. (Id.) 

Respondents argue that there is no widespread pattern of unauthorized use since over 

90% of the U.S. and worldwide DRAM market is already licensed. (RRB at 57.) Rather, 

Respondents argue that there is a widespread pattern of authorized use and that the percentages 

of unlicensed products will likely decrease as the use of newer DRAM expands. (RRB at 62-63.) 

Staff argues that there is a widespread pattern of unauthorized use as there is evidence of 

high demand for DRAMs and that a substantial number of unlicensed chip packages are 

imported into the U.S. (SIB at 98-99.) 

2. Business Conditions 

Tessera argues that the business conditions in the DRAM industry indicate that non-

respondents will likely attempt to enter the U.S. market. (CIB at 121.) Specifically, Tessera 

argues that there is (1) significant demand for the Accused Packages with one billion DRAMs 

imported as standalone chips and the remaining 84% of DRAM chips arriving in downstream 

19 Tessera uses "Accused Packaged Chips" to describe Respondents' specific accused products that were analyzed 
by Dr. Qu and Dr. Goosey and other small forma BGA chip packages that would be impacted by an exclusion order. 
(CIB at 118, note 34.) 

159 



PUBLIC VERSION 

products; (2) established U.S. distribution channels not controlled by Respondents that new 

infringers could easily access; (3) existing facilities could easily be taken over by new entities 

and non-respondent manufacturers can easily expand their operations; and (4) non-respondents 

downstream manufacturers can simply buy Accused Chip Packages from unlicensed DRAM 

manufacturers and incorporate those chips into downstream products prior to importation. (CIB 

at 121-123.) 

Respondents argue that new unlicensed market entrants are unlikely in the field of 

semiconductor manufacturing because all DRAM manufacturers with a measurable share of the 

worldwide DRAM market are either already licensed or named as Respondents in this 

investigation. (RRB at 63.) Furthermore, Respondents argue that given the highly depressed 

state of the DRAM market and the high cost of starting a new manufacturing facility (billions of 

dollars), the likelihood of new entrant is remote. (RRB at 63-64.) 

Staff argues that certain business conditions exist, namely that the accused chip packages 

are found in many electronic products, which are imported by electronic manufacturers and 

memory module makers in high volumes and there is evidence that semiconductor chip packages 

of manufacturers located abroad are incorporated into memory modules or other consumer 

electronics that are imported into the U.S .. (SIB at 99.) 

3. Risk of Circumvention 

Tessera argues that a general exclusion order is necessary to prevent circumvention of a 

limited exclusion order ("LEO") since a majority of the unlicensed Accused Packaged Chips is 

incorporated into downstream products that are imported by non-Respondents, which would not 

be subject to an LEO. (CIB at 118-119.) Tessera further argues that the low market price of 

DRAMs provide an incentive to unlicensed DRAM manufacturers to undercut their licensed 
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competitors and that should only an LEO issue, Respondents would have incentive to sell their 

DRAM business to non-respondents or create spin-off companies in order to avoid the LEO. 

(CIB at 119.) Tessera further argues that it is difficult to identify the source of the DRAM chip 

because they do not have uniform markings and do not sell the products under their brand names, 

which will make evasion of the LEO even more likely. (CIB at 119-120.) 

Respondents argue that the risk of circumvention argued by Tessera is of its own making 

since Tessera made a strategic decision to not name known downstream manufacturers and that 

Tessera should not now be able to rely upon that decision as justification for the issuance of a 

GEO. (RRB at 56.) More specifically, Respondents argue that Tessera has failed to prove 

circumvention or evasion of a LEO is likely for the downstream products that Tessera is seeking 

to exclude especially since Tessera's own evidence shows that a majority of DRAM chips enter 

the U.S. as chips or modules and not in downstream products. (RRB at 58-59.) Rather, Tessera 

simply makes conclusory statements with little evidence to support its proposition. (RRB at 58-

59.) Respondents argue that Tessera has failed to show that DRAM manufacturers who avoid 

paying a royalty to Tessera are a result of market incentives and that such an argument is not 

particularly relevant as to whether a GEO should issue. (RRB at 59.) Respondents further argue 

that Tessera's concern with "spin-off' corporations or the sale of manufacturing businesses is 

eliminated by Tessera's proposed language for the exclusion order, which includes language 

with successor liability. (RRB at 59-60.) Respondents further argue that it is not difficult to 

identify the manufacturer of the chips since the identity of the manufacturer is readily apparent 

on chips and modules and, for computers and servers, the manufacturer of the module are readily 

apparent upon removal of the computer casing. (RRB at 60-61.) 
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4. Conclusion 

The ALJ finds that Tessera has failed to show that a general exclusion order is warranted 

should the Commission find a violation of Section 337. Tessera has failed to show that there is a 

widespread pattern of unauthorized use or that the source of the products is difficult to identify. 

Tessera has conceded that it knew and or learned of the identity of the downstream 

manufacturers but chose not to name them: "Tessera could not have named all of the 

downstream product manufacturers that incorporate Respondents' Accused Products. SMART 

sold products to more than" customers in 2007 alone, and Nanya, Elpida, and Kingston 

each have _ of customers. The identities of Respondents' customers and the volumes of 

Respondents sales to them were determined only through discovery in this Investigation." (CRB 

at 68-69) (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, the evidence shows that while there is a 

widespread pattern of use of Tessera's patented technology, most of that use is authorized. (CX-

06484C (Marcucci DWS) Q. 66; Marcucci, Tr. 1204:2 7; RX-12C (Corrected Malackowski 

DWS) Q. 90; Griffin, Tr. 1145:2-1146:8, CX-06488C (Griffin DWS)at Q. 114, Griffin, Tr. 

1115:3-17; Griffin, Tr. 1106:24-1107:25,1115:3-17.) Tessera argues that the percentages cited 

by Respondents are misleading and irrelevant and instead cite the actual number of imported 

unlicensed DRAMs. However, these numbers absent any context, e.g. the total number of 

imported DRAMs, is equally misleading and irrelevant and the ALJ finds it unpersuasive. 

Furthermore, the business conditions in the DRAM industry, on balance, weigh against a general 

exclusion order. Specifically, the latter three factors20 weigh against the issuance of a general 

exclusion order. The evidence shows that the DRAM industry is a "capital intensive industry" 

20 "(3) the cost for foreign entrepreneurs to build a facility that can produce the patented articles; 
(4) the number of foreign manufacturers whose facilities could be converted to manufacture the 
patented article; and (5) the foreign manufacturers' cost to convert a facility to produce the 
patented articles." Magnets at 6 (citing Spray Pumps). 
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that is unlikely to gain new entrants, especially given the current economic downturn in the 

DRAM market. (Kerr, Tr. 1349:5-19, 1424:10-18; RX-14C (Mulhern RWS) Q&A 81; CX-

06489C (Kerr DWS) at Q&A 139.) 

The Commission rejected similar arguments by Tessera in the 605 Investigation finding 

that Tessera "had not made a sufficient showing with respect to the difficulty of identifying the 

source of the infringing products." (Comm'n Op. at 68.) The Commission further noted that, 

as in this Investigation, Tessera was able to learn of the identities of the source of the allegedly 

infringing downstream products through discovery in the 605 Investigation, but chose not to 

amend the Complaint to add them and "[w]ithout more, Tessera has not established by this 

argument that it is difficult to identify the source of the infringing products." (Id at 69.) 

As for Tessera's arguments relating to the risk of circumvention of a limited exclusion 

order, the ALl finds those arguments to be unpersuasive. The Commission considered similar 

arguments in the 605 Investigation and ultimately rejected those arguments. In the 605 

Investigation, the Commission noted that the incorporation of the accused chips into downstream 

products outside of the United States was a pre-existing practice which could not serve as a basis 

for circumvention. (Comm'n Op. at 66-67.) In this investigation, the incorporation of 

Respondents' Accused Chip Packages was a pre-existing practice as well and, similarly, cannot 

serve as a basis for circumvention. The Commission also rejected Tessera's hypothetical 

arguments that Respondents could circumvent the limited exclusion order by "transferring" the 

incorporation of assemblies to their overseas customers and that Respondents could create joint 

ventures or spin-offs to avoid the order (Comm'n Op. at 67-68.) Those same arguments are 

rejected here. Thus, the ALl finds that Tessera has failed to meet the heightened burden of 

showing that it is entitled to a general exclusion order. To the extent the ALl finds that Tessera 

163 



PUBLIC VERSION 

is not entitled to a general exclusion order, the ALl finds that it is not necessary to address 

Tessera's request for a "tailored" general exclusion order. 

The ALl recommends, however, that should Commission issue a general exclusion order, 

a certification provision should be included in the exclusion order. Neither Respondents nor 

Tessera disputes that such a certification provision. (CRB at 73; RRB at 64; SRB at 31.) 

B. Limited Exclusion Order 

Under Section 337(d), the Commission may issue either a limited or a general exclusion 

order. A limited exclusion order directed to respondents' infringing products is among the 

remedies that the Commission may impose, as is a general exclusion order that would apply to 

all infringing products, regardless of their manufacturer. See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d). 

Tessera requests that, should the Commission deny its request for general exclusion order, 

a limited exclusion order be issued that prohibits the importation of Respondents' Accused 

Packages, memory modules that incorporate the Accused packages, and computers, including 

desktops, notebooks, and servers that incorporate such memory modules. (CIB at 117.) 

Respondents agree that should a limited exclusion order issue in this investigation, a self­

administered certification program would be appropriate. (RRB at 64.) 

The ALl agrees that the evidence shows that, if a violation is found and the Commission 

decides not to issue a general exclusion order, a limited exclusion order would be proper. The 

limited exclusion order should apply to respondents Acer Inc.; Acer America Corp.; Centon 

Electronics, Inc.; Kingston Technology Corporation; Nanya Technology Corporation; Nanya 

Technology Corp. USA; Powerchip Semiconductor Corp.; ProMos Technologies, Inc.; Ramaxel 

Technology, Ltd; SMART Modular Technologies, Inc.; TwinMOS Technologies, Inc.; and 

TwinMOS Technologies, USA, Inc. and all of their affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or 
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other related business entities, or their successors or assigns.21 The ALl further recommends that 

the limited exclusion order should apply to the Accused Chip Packages that come from 

unlicensed sources. 22 The ALl further recommends that the Commission should include a 

certification provision in the exclusion order in order. 

C. Downstream Products 

The Commission may add "downstream products" to an exclusion order. Thus, products 

may be excluded from importation because they contain one or more accused devices. The 

Commission has held that in determining whether or not to exclude downstream products it will 

consider the so-called EPROM factors, set forth in Erasable Programmable Read-Only 

Memories, Components Thereof Products Containing Such Memories, and Process for Making 

Such Memories, Inv. No. 337-TA-276, USITC Pub. 2196, Comm'n Op. at 125-26 (May 1989) 

(Affd sub nom., Hyundai Electronics Co. v. United States Int'l Trade Comm'n, 899 F.2d 1204 

(Fed. Cir. 1990).) The EPROM factors are: 

(l) the value of the infringing articles compared to the value of the downstream products 
in which they are incorporated; 

(2) the identity of the manufacturer of the downstream products, i.e., whether it can be 
determined that the downstream products are manufactured by the respondent or by a 
third party; 

(3) the incremental value to complainant of the exclusion of downstream products; 

(4) the incremental detriment to respondents of exclusion of such products; 

(5) the burdens imposed on third parties resulting from exclusion of downstream products; 

(6) the availability of alternative downstream products that do not contain the infringing 
articles; 

21 As noted supra in Section VI. B, the ALJ found that respondent Elpida's suppliers were licensed entities and that 
Elpida's products were licensed and, as such, not in violation of Section 337. 
22 For those Accused Chip Packages that are from licensed sources, the ALJ found that those products were not in 
violation of Section 337. 
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(7) the likelihood that the downstream products actually contain the infringing articles 
and are thereby subject to exclusion; 

(8) the opportunity for evasion of an exclusion order that does not include downstream 
products; and 

(9) the enforceability of an order by Customs .... 

Comm'n Op. at .125-26. These factors were not meant to be exclusive of other considerations, as 

"the Commission may identify and take into account any other factors which it believes bear on 

the question of whether to extend remedial exclusion to downstream products, and if so to what 

specific products." fd. The Commission may exclude downstream products even though not all 

of the factors weigh in favor of doing so. See fd. at 127 (excluding certain downstream products 

even though the value of the EPROMs relative to the downstream products was small). 

While the Commission may exclude downstream products of named respondents in a 

limited exclusion order weighing the EPROM factors, the Commission may not exclude products 

of unnamed respondents unless the heightened requirements of a general exclusion order in §§ 

337(d)(2)(A) or (B) are satisfied. Kyocera Wireless Corp. v. fTC ,. 545 F.3d 1340, 1358 (Fed. 

Cir. 2008) ("Kyocera"). In Kyocera, the Federal Circuit found that the Commission did not have 

the authority in a limited exclusion order to exclude the downstream products of unnamed 

respondents. fd. at 1355-58. Specifically, the Federal Circuit stated that the Commission's 

authority to exclude products in a limited exclusion order is limited to those products of the 

named respondents in the complaint. (fd. at 1356.) The Federal Circuit further explained that 

"[i]f a complainant wishes to obtain an exclusion order operative against articles of non-

respondents, it must seek a GEO by satisfying the heightened burdens of §§ 1337(d)(2)(A) and 

(B)." (Jd. at 1356.) Thus, a complainant may no longer exclude downstream products of non 

respondents in a limited exclusion order by simply satisfying the EPROM factors. Rather, in 
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order to exclude the downstream products of unnamed respondents, the complainant must meet 

the heightened requirements of a general exclusion order in order to exclude those products. 

Tessera argues that the EPROM factors support the exclusion of downstream memory 

modules and computers. (CIB at 123.) Tessera argues that since a vast majority of the Accused 

Packaged Chips is imported into the u.s. after they are incorporated into downstream products, a 

downstream order is essential in order to gain effective relief. (CIB at 123-124.) Tessera argues 

that each of the EPROM factors weight in its favor: (1) it is undisputed that the Accused 

Packaged Chips are vital to downstream products into which they are incorporated as they could 

not function without the chip packages and they constitute a significant percentage of the 

monetary value of the downstream products; (2) it was impractical for Tessera to have named 

every actual infringer and that Tessera named manufacturers of the Accused Packaged Chips and 

the downstream projects, which was sufficient to protect the interests of others similarly situated; 

(3) the incremental value of the downstream exclusion order to Tessera and its licensees is 

significant since Tessera relies on revenues derived from royalties and license fees from those 

licensees that utilize Tessera's technology and, absent downstream relief, non-licensed 

manufacturers can undercut Tessera's licensees and downstream manufacturers can purchase and 

incorporate the lower cost unlicensed chip packages into their products prior to importation 

thereby avoiding having to pay Tessera; (4) the downstream order should have no adverse 

consequences to Respondents' business interests since Respondents can easily take a license 

from Tessera or purchase its chips from Tessera's licensees, of which there are numerous non­

infringing sources, and need only provide CBP with a certification; (5) a downstream exclusion 

order will have a minimal impact on third parties as they can simply certify that their products 

are licensed, switch to licensed suppliers, ensure their suppliers are licensed, take a license 
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themselves, or use non-infringing technology; (6) non-infringing alternatives are available to 

third parties, including flip-chip technology; (7) it is undisputed that downstream products 

contain the infringing articles since the computer market has moved to DDR2 technology; (8) 

a11Y remedy that did not include a general downstream order would not provide Tessera with any 

meaningful relief since a majority of the infringing chips are imported after incorporation into 

downstream products; and (9) CBP could easily enforce the downstream orders through a self­

certification program covering the accused products and downstream products. (CIB at 123-133.) 

Tessera further argues that the Commission may also issue a "tailored" GEO "that excludes only 

downstream products incorporating the products of the named Respondents, rather than of all 

third parties." (CIB at 131, note 37.) 

Respondents opposes Tessera's request for a "tailored" GEO as well as its attempts to 

exclude downstream products. (RRB at 54-55.) Respondents argue that Tessera seeks to 

exclude entire categories of downstream products for which no evidence was admitted. (RRB at 

55.) Respondents further argue that in light of Kyocera, Tessera must meet the heightened 

burden of a general exclusion order in order to exclude the downstream products of non­

respondents and that Tessera has failed to do so. (RRB at 64-65.) Nevertheless, Respondents 

argue that the EPROM factors do not warrant downstream relief against third parties since (1) the 

value of the alleged infringing element in the downstream product neither weigh in favor or 

against excluding downstream products because there are other available types of DRAM, the 

value of the DRAM varies depending on the downstream products and the cost to perform the 

one step in chip manufacturing covered by Tessera's patents is _ (2) a majority of the 

downstream producers are not respondents and they are easily identifiable and finite in number; 

(3) more than 90% of DRAM supplies originates from licensed sources with a vast majority of 
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Respondents' imported products being licensed and Tessera's licensees' lost sales cannot be 

solely based on the availability of unlicensed products on the market; (4) the exclusion of 

downstream products will result in additional expenses for Respondents and loss of sales; (5) 

burden of complying with a certification program exists; (6) there is an absence of evidence on 

whether any unlicensed DRAM is found in downstream products and compliance programs 

instituted by Respondents Nanya, Acer and Powerchip make it unlikely that any unlicensed 

DRAM in downstream products will enter the U.S.; (7) the likelihood of evasion is low since 

nearly 90% of the DRAM supply is already licensed and the remaining supply would be covered 

by a limited exclusion order; and (8) there are significant difficulties in enforcing the order since 

it is still unclear what constitutes a product "produced under an active and applicable Tessera 

license" and the sheer volume of products subject to the order would be a burden for Customs. 

(RRB at 64-69.) Respondents do concede, however, that licensed products are available on the 

market. 

Staff generally agrees with Tessera in its entirety as it relates to the individual analysis of 

the EPROM factors. (SIB at 100-104.) Staff notes however that while the accused chip 

packages are critical to the function of the electronic products, the percentage value for the chip 

package varies depending on the downstream product. (SIB at 100-101.) Staff further notes that 

while an analysis of the EPROM factors warrants an exclusion order that includes downstream 

products, an exclusion of all downstream products containing infringing packages would be 

overly broad and unduly burdensome. Staff argues that the exclusion order should encompass 

memory modules and desktop and laptop computers regardless of the source incorporating the 

packages and that all of the named Respondents downstream products should be excluded. (SIB 

at 104-105.) 
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As set forth supra, the ALJ found that Tessera had failed to meet its heightened burden of 

showing that a general exclusion order is warranted. (See I.AA.) Consequently, in light of the 

Kyocera, Tessera has also failed to meet its burden of excluding the downstream products of 

non-respondents. 

Nevertheless, in addition to failing to satisfy the Spray Pump factors for the issuance of a 

general exclusion order, Tessera has further failed to show that downstream products should be 

excluded in light of the EPROMfactors.23 For example, in addressing the fourth and fifth factors 

("(4) the incremental detriment to respondents of exclusion of such products and (5) the burdens 

imposed on third parties resulting from exclusion of downstream products"), Tessera argues that 

those can easily be addressed by Respondents and third parties taking a license from Tessera. 

Tessera's arguments miss the point. Indeed, regardless of whether Respondents or the unnamed 

third parties choose to take a license from Tessera, the burden and detrimental impact of an 

exclusion order that includes downstream products can still be very real. Indeed, the evidence 

shows that should an exclusion order issue that included downstream products, Respondents will 

likely lose customers and sales and incur significant internal costs. (RX-14C (Mulhern DWS) at 

Q&A 134-135; JX 00667C; JX-006611C; JX-00691C; JX-0072C at 14-15, 48-49, 54-55.) 

Similarly, the burden on third parties will be significant - particularly the certification provision 

in light of Tessera's position regarding licensing. (See supra at VI.) This difficulty with the 

certification provision will similarly create issues for the CBP in the enforcement of the orders 

since it is still unclear what constitutes a product "produced under an active and applicable 

23 The EPROMs factors are used to determine whether a complainant is entitled to a limited exclusion order that 
includes downstream products. Certain EPROM, EEPROM, Flash Memory, and Flash Microcontroller 
Semiconductor Devices and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-395, USITC Pub. No. 3392, Comm'n Op. 
at 82 (October 16,2000). In light of the Federal Circuit's recent decision in Kyocera, it is not clear whether the same 
EPROMs analysis should be performed when the complainant seeks a general exclusion order that seeks to exclude 
downstream products of third parties. Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution, the AU has provided his 
analysis of the EPROMs factors. 
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Tessera license" since Tessera may withhold licensed status to products from a licensed source 

until some indefinite future date upon which Tessera has determined that royalties were paid. 

The first factor also does not weigh in Tessera's favor since there are other types of DRAM 

available on the market and the actual value of the DRAM varies depending on the downstream 

products, e.g. the value of DRAM in memory modules can be as high as 72.4% while only 7.5% 

for laptops. (CX-06489C at Q&A 109; CX-6890C). 

While Tessera may benefit from a general exclusion order, it is not clear that incremental 

value of the exclusion of downstream products is as substantial as set forth by Tessera, especially 

in light of the fact that more than 90% of DRAM supplies originates from licensed sources with 

a vast majority of Respondents' imported products being licensed. Indeed, Tessera merely 

makes conclusory statements regarding the value of excluding downstream products, without 

citing to any specific value or benefit. (See CIB at 126-127.) Such statements are insufficient to 

justify the extreme measure of issuing a general exclusion order. While factors six and eight 

weigh slightly in Tessera's favor, the remaining factors do not tip the scales in Tessera's favor. 

Specifically, a majority of the downstream producers are not respondents and they are easily 

identifiable and finite in number and there is an absence of evidence on whether any unlicensed 

DRAM is found in downstream products, especially in light of compliance programs instituted 

by Respondents Nanya, Acer and Powerchip that make it unlikely that any unlicensed DRAM in 

downstream products will enter the u.S .. 

Therefore, the ALJ finds that Tessera has failed to meet its burden of showing that 

downstream products should be included in a general exclusion order should the Commission 

find a violation of Section 337 and determine to issue a general exclusion order. 

D. Cease and Desist Order 
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Section 337 provides that in addition to, or in lieu of, the issuance of an exclusion order, 

the Commission may issue a cease and desist order as a remedy for violation of section 337. See 

19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). The Commission generally issues a cease and desist order directed to a 

domestic respondent when there is a "commercially significant" amount of infringing, imported 

product in the United States that could be sold so as to undercut the remedy provided by an 

exclusion order. See Certain Crystalline Cefadroxil Monohydrate, Inv. No. 337-TA-293, USITC 

Pub. 2391, Comm'n Op. on Remedy, the Public Interest and Bonding at 37-42 (June 1991); 

Certain Condensers, Parts Thereof and Products Containing Same, Including Air Conditioners 

for Automobiles, Inv. No. 337-TA-334, Comm'n Op. at 26-28 (Aug. 27, 1997). 

Tessera requests a cease and desist order against respondents Acer, Centon, Kingston, 

Nanya, Elpida and SMART because each of these respondents maintain a significant inventory 

of infringing goods. (CIB at 133.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 105.) 

Respondents argue that a cease and desist order is not necessitated because a "vast 

majority" of Accused Packaged Chips entering the U.S. are licensed and the turnover rate of 

DRAMs is so fast that there is no time to build a significant inquiry. (RRB at 70-71.) 

Respondents further argue that Tessera has failed to present any evidence that the Respondents 

actually do maintain a significant inventory of infringing DRAMs. (RRB at 71.) 

The ALJ recommends that should the Commission find a violation a cease and desist 

order against respondents Acer, Centon, Kingston, Nanya, Elpida and SMART should be issued. 

The evidence shows that these respondents maintain a significant inventory of infringing goods. 

(CPFF XII 144-1482.) The fact that respondents may experience a high turnover rate does not 

render the Commission's cease and desist order preventing the respondents from selling the 

inventory meaningless. Rather, it would appear that since respondents do experience such a high 
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turnover rate, a cease and desist order is all the more appropriate and necessary to provide 

effective relief to Tessera. 

E. Bond During Presidential Review Period 

The Administrative Law Judge and the Commission must determine the amount of bond 

to be required of a respondent, pursuant to section 337G)(3), during the 60-day Presidential 

review period following the issuance of permanent relief, in the event that the Commission 

determines to issue a remedy. The purpose of the bond is to protect the complainant from any 

injury. 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(a)(1)(ii), § 210.50(a)(3). 

When reliable price information is available, the Commission has often set the bond by 

eliminating the differential between the domestic product and the imported, infringing product. 

See Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making Same, and Products Containing Same, 

Including Self-Stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-366, Comm'n Op. a 24 (1995). In 

other cases, the Commission has turned to alternative approaches, especially when the level of a 

reasonable royalty rate could be ascertained. See, e.g., Certain Integrated Circuit 

Telecommunication Chips and Products Containing Same, Including Dialing Apparatus, Inv. No. 

337-TA-337, Comm'n Op. at 41 (1995). A 100 percent bond has been required when no 

effective alternative existed. See, e.g., Certain Flash Memory Circuits and Products Containing 

Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-382, USITC Pub. No. 3046, Comm'n Op. at 26-27 (July 1997)(a 100% 

bond imposed when price comparison was not practical because the parties sold products at 

different levels of commerce, and the proposed royalty rate appeared to be de minimis and 

without adequate support in the record). 

Tessera argues that a bond should be set in the amount of 100% of the entered value of 

any infringing import, which Tessera estimates to be $3.23 per infringing packaged 512 Mb 
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DRAM chip or the equivalent. The total amount of infringing megabits should be divided by 

512 and then multiplied by $3.23. (CIB at 133-134.) 

Respondents argue that the bond should be set at a reasonable royalty rate of 1 %, which 

is supported by documentary evidence and expert testimony including Tessera's own expert. 

(RRB at 69-70.) Staff agrees arguing that Tessera has a record of royalties in its license 

agreement, which should be the measure for the bond. (SIB at 105-106.) 

Should the Commission find a violation of Section 337, the ALl recommends that a bond 

be set at a reasonable royalty rate as determined by Tessera's license agreements. The evidence 

shows that Tessera has a record of royalties as determined by its numerous license agreements 

and, as such, a bond of 100% is not necessary. 

II. Conclusion 

In accordance with the discussion of the issues contained herein, it is the 

RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ("RD") of the Court that in the event the Commission 

finds a violation of section 337, a general exclusion order that includes downstream products is 

not warranted. To the extent the Commission determines to issue a general exclusion order, the 

ALl recommends that the exclusion order include a certification provision. Should the 

Commission decide not to issue a general exclusion order, the Commission should issue limited 

exclusion order directed only to respondents Acer Inc.; Acer America Corp.; Centon Electronics, 

Inc.; Kingston Technology Corporation; Nanya Technology Corporation; Nanya Technology 

Corp. USA; Powerchip Semiconductor Corp.; ProMos Technologies, Inc.; Ramaxel Technology, 

Ltd; SMART Modular Technologies, Inc.; TwinMOS Technologies, Inc.; and TwinMOS 

Technologies, USA, Inc. and all of their affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other 

related business entities, or their successors or assigns. Should the Commission find a violation, 
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the Commission should also issue a cease and desist order directed toward the domestic 

respondents Acer, Centon, Kingston, Nanya, Elpida and SMART. Furthermore, if the 

Commission imposes a remedy following a finding of violation, Respondents should be required 

to post a bond set at a reasonable royalty rate as determined by Tessera's license agreements 

during the Presidential review period. 

Within seven days of the date of this document, each party shall submit to the office of 

the Administrative Law Judge a statement as to whether or not it seeks to have any portion of 

this document deleted from the public version. The parties' submissions must be made by hard 

copy by the aforementioned date. 

Any party seeking to have any portion of this document deleted from the public version 

thereof must submit to this office a copy of this document with red brackets indicating any 

portion asserted to contain confidential business information by the aforementioned date. The 

parties' submission concerning the public version of this document need not be filed with the 

Commission Secretary. 

SO ORDERED. 

c:==~ ~ 
Theodore R. Essex 
Administrative Law Judge 
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